1969

In Re: George E. Bridwell, Disciplinary Proceeding : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All italics are ours.

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a disciplinary proceeding before the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar.

DISPOSITION BY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

The Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar adopted the Findings and Conclusions of the Hearing Committee and recommended disbarment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, George E. Bridwell, seeks dismissal and vindication.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges involved in this disciplinary proceeding arise from representation by George Bridwell of Precisa Calculating Machine Co., Inc., a Utah corporation and the complaining witness Eugene Wagner and his ex-wife Nellie Wagner from the Fall of 1957 to the Fall of 1961. Bridwell's representation of the above arose from an investigation by the Bureau of Internal Revenue which led to large tax assessments. The initial assessments at the time when Bridwell was hired amounted to the sum of \$90,000.00 for Precisa Calculating Machine Co. and \$94,015.12 for Eugene and Nellie Wagner for 1954, 1955 and 1956. Ultimately, pursuant to investigation, the following assessments were made:

Eugene and Nellie Wagner,

1954 taxes\$112,878.99

Penalty 73,732.66

Total\$186,611.65

1955 taxes\$169,050.89

Penalty 84,525.45

Total\$253,576.34

1956 taxes	\$ 85,549.09
Penalty	42,774.55
Total	<hr/> \$128,323.64
1957 taxes	\$ 34,004.54
Penalty	17,917.51
Total	<hr/> \$ 50,922.05

The total assessments for the above four years on the Wagners amounted to \$401,483.51 taxes plus penalty of \$218,950.17 for a total of \$620,533.68. The assessments made after investigation on Precisa Calculating Machine Co. were as follows:

1954	\$ 45,228.57
1955	32,112.58
1956	34,688.28
1957	11,750.69
Total	<hr/> \$123,780.12

At the conclusion of Bridwell's representation of the Wagners and Precisa Calculating Machine Co. in 1961, the *Wagner assessments were settled for \$18,572.31* and the *assessments of Precisa Calculating Machine Co. were settled for \$11,750.69*. Thus, total assessments amounting to \$744,213.80 were finally settled as a result of the services of George E. Bridwell for a total of \$30,323.00 (Ex. 35).

After Wagner was questioned by representatives of the Internal Revenue Service, he sought the services

of Bridwell and immediately went back to Switzerland taking with him approximately \$28,000.00 of the funds of Precisa Calculating Machine Co. (R. 32, 33, 34, 241). Bridwell had represented Wagner in a divorce action which had been concluded prior to the time of this representation. Bridwell was out of the office at the time that Wagner sought his services, and Wagner left word with David Bybee then sharing space with Bridwell. Bridwell, on his return, commenced representing Precisa Calculating Machine Co. and the Wagners.

In a letter dated October 30, 1957, Bridwell set forth the terms of the representation as far as fee was concerned (Ex. 1). In this letter, Bridwell notified Wagner of the preliminary assessments against both him and the company, and that a tax lien had been placed against all company assets as well as the assets of the Wagners. As far as the fee arrangement was concerned, Bridwell stated in part as follows:

“If you desire me to represent you in all these matters, I must have *carte-blanche authority* and *ample expenses* so that I may hire accountants of my own choosing to work with me.

My fee for handling the matter all the way *through the administrative process* of the Bureau of Internal Revenue will be \$14,000.00. Those processes include working with the Agents during their preparations of final reports, then to a conference hearing. And if we are not then satisfied we will go to the Appellate staff, and finally to the Tax Court.”

Bridwell also warned in this letter of the possibility of criminal prosecution. Bridwell further stated concerning the payment of the fee:

"I request, if you desire my services, to send \$8,000.00 now, as a fee and expense advance. The balance of my fee to be paid at the rate of \$2,000.00 per month, expenses to be paid when itemized."

Precisa Calculating Machine Co., during the time in question, was a corporation owned primarily by one Mr. Jost and a parent corporation in Switzerland known as Precisa A.G., with Wagner owning less than one-fifth of the stock (R. 219).

Bridwell obtained the services of Frank Nielson, a local C.P.A., to assist. Nielson is a man who was formerly an employee of the Internal Revenue Service and as such had a great deal of experience in tax fraud cases. As the case progressed, not only were additional years added, but the assessments went way up and in Bridwell's words (R. 330):

"* * * this claim turned into a real can of worms with indicia of fraud rampant throughout the whole thing. Of course, I use that for want of a better word. The classic example of fraud involving Swiss banks by American citizens. Of course, Mr. Wagner is a nationalized citizen of the United States and, oh, one of the things, for instance, that we had to contend with — by 'we,' I mean Mr. Nielson and with the special agents — were withdrawals from Utah deposits in the Swiss bank accounts and money coming back to a New York bank where it's received

by cashier's checks, checks are cashed, purchases of automobiles, property, that sort of thing."

In the Fall of 1958, during the course of the representation, it was decided that Bridwell and Nielson would go to Switzerland to personally go through all of the bank account records and to prepare an affidavit to be signed by the principal stockholders outlining the history of the Precisa Calculating Machine Co. and Wagner's part in this Company.

Wagner himself had suggested the trip in a letter to Bridwell, dated June 13, 1958 (Ex. I). Bridwell and Nielson took the trip to Switzerland in October 1958. They were there for approximately three weeks. During the time they were there, Bridwell orally discussed the fee arrangements with Wagner and the fact that the cases had turned out much larger than originally anticipated, and Wagner agreed that the fee would be adjusted (R. 331, 332). It had been agreed right from the start that Bridwell could pay himself from the corporate bank account periodically (R. 332).

The first two checks on Bridwell's fee were also signed by Mr. Grothe, who was the local ranking officer after Wagner's departure, but later on Grothe was removed from the company and Bridwell was the only one who could sign checks on the company bank account. However, the company office remained open for a period of time and the cancelled checks and bank statements would be sent to the company address at 375 West 4th South, Salt Lake City, Utah. Mrs. Newbold

handled the company correspondence and business and later, Mrs. Wagner, the ex-wife, continued handling the business until the building was sealed off on a seizure by the Internal Revenue Service, after which time, there were no more banking transactions (R. 333).

Exhibit F is an exhibit which shows the dates and amounts of the fees drawn by George Bridwell, showing draws through the year 1958 and a final payment in 1961 from money refunded by the Internal Revenue Service after the settlement of the tax cases. This exhibit shows a total amount of money collected for fee in the sum of \$28,653.36 plus \$2,000.00 in 1961 received from Wagner.

Nielson was present during the trip to Switzerland in 1958 at times when Bridwell and Wagner discussed fees. Nielson supported Bridwell's version of the fee discussion held in Switzerland whereby it was agreed that the fees would be revised, and stated at R. 274:

"A. — and Mr. Bridwell says, he says, 'Frank . . .'

And Mr. Wagner was there.

He says, 'You will remember this because it may be important some day that Mr. Wagner owes me substantial fees on this case, Mr. Wagner owes me substantial fees on this case and there's additional fees that will be charged in connection with the corporation.'

And I remember that individually because of the fact that George emphasized that to me as they came into the room.

Q. Now, what did Mr. Wagner say to this?

A. Mr. Wagner didn't say anything. He just — silent acknowledgment.

Q. Was he close enough so that he could have heard this easily enough?

A. Mr. Bridwell brought Mr. Wagner into the room specifically to say this in front of me. That's the only subject that was brought my attention to."

During the course of this stay in Switzerland, Nielson audited the corporation bank account, and he and Bridwell prepared a voluminous affidavit outlining the history of the company in the United States and its connection with Wagner, together with attachments of bank statements. The affidavit outlined that Wagner had embezzled certain monies from the corporation which he would pay back, which was the basis for a theory of minimizing tax liability for embezzled money. Bridwell represented to the I.R.S. agents that this affidavit would be signed by the principals involved. However, he and Nielson left on a weekend with the understanding that the affidavit would be signed and forwarded to be presented to I.R.S. However, this affidavit was never in fact signed (Ex. E).

The expenses for the trip were primarily obtained from \$4,000.00 paid back to the company from Metropolitan Finance as final payment on a loan which Precisa made to Metropolitan Finance.

Bridwell testified that not only was the \$4,000.00 used up for trip expenses for himself and Nielson, but some money in addition had been drawn while there for additional expenses (R. 331, 332). Also from this money, Bridwell hired a public stenographer to assist with their work (R. 371). Bridwell and Nielson believed that they had kept complete records as to all of the expenses in view of the fact that these trip expenses were ultimately approved by I.R.S. in the settlement of the tax cases (R. 319, 320, 321) (Ex. 35).

Shortly after the return from the trip to Switzerland in February 1958, Nielson mailed to Wagner a financial statement concerning Precisa Calculating Machine Co. as of December 31, 1957 (Ex. 34A). Following the trip, Bridwell and Nielson continued to work on these cases and Bridwell filed a Petition in the Tax Court which was tentatively set for trial in the Fall Term of 1959. The Government made a motion to continue the case and it was.

During this period of time Bridwell contacted a Washington attorney at his own expense for assistance in Washington (R. 354). Ultimately, the Tax Court convened in Salt Lake City and Bridwell appeared and argued against the Government's motion for a continuance. He also explored the possibilities of obtaining depositions and copies of records in Paris or Switzerland (R. 354).

Bridwell also conferred from time to time with a lawyer from the Regional Counsel's office in San Francisco.

In the meantime, because of lack of funds in the corporate bank account, the corporation was unable to continue making its monthly payments on the building and the contract went into default in June 1958 (Ex. 24). As a result, a lawsuit was filed on behalf of the owners of the building for the purpose of cancelling the contract. Bridwell prevailed upon counsel for the Plaintiffs in that case, Mr. Bernstein, to grant to Precisa an option to purchase back the building within one year. Prior to this time, Bridwell had made application to the District Director of Internal Revenue to discharge the Oren Romney property from the tax lien so that the Romneys could pay the balance off to Precisa Calculating Machine Co. and expressly stated in said Petition, that this was necessary so that Precisa could continue making the monthly payments on the property at 375 West 4th South, Salt Lake City, Utah. This petition was denied (Ex. K, R. 363).

This option was exercised by Robert Schubach, a friend and client of Bridwell, who to September 1961, had put his own money into the building to the extent of \$11,370.30. In order to satisfy the Internal Revenue that this was a bona fide transaction and not a sham, Bridwell had to obtain an affidavit from Schubach to this effect (Ex. J).

At the time of Bridwell's second trip to Switzerland in the first part of September 1961, during his conversations with Wagner, he informed Wagner pursuant to what Schubach had told him prior to the trip, that at that time Schubach was willing to merely receive his investment back together with interest. During the conversation, Bridwell gave Wagner a complete breakdown as:

"Initial Payment	\$ 7,277.10
1960 Taxes	873.55
Keys	5.64
Insurance	214.08
September 1960 to July 1961	
at \$250.00/month	2,750.00
August 1961	250.00
TOTAL	\$11,370.30"

As of that time, neither Wagner nor any of the principals of Precisa were willing to take Schubach up on this offer. However, as will be discussed later, there was language in the corporate minutes to the effect that the company urged Schubach to give it, Jost or Wagner the right to purchase the property back at the market price (R. 368).

During the summer of 1961, Bridwell determined that it was essential for him to travel to Switzerland again for the purpose of getting the voluminous affidavit signed or that failing, at least some sort of a statement from the Company to substantiate the financial transactions and the loss of the building in order to

solidify the settlements then agreed and the 1957 settlement which was still pending.

The three cases in the Tax Court were settled as follows:

Case No. 72273, May 29, 1961

Case No. 72274, May 26, 1961

Case No. 73521, May 26, 1961 (R. 435)

However, these settlements did not cover the assessments for 1957. The settlement notices for the 1957 settlement were mailed on October 9, 1961 (R. 436).

Bridwell corresponded with Wagner both by letter and by telegram and urged Wagner to send him \$2,000 for expenses for the trip to Switzerland which Bridwell felt was essential for the final settlement and termination of the tax matters. Bridwell explained his reasons as follows (R. 360, 361):

"A. Oh, in my own mind I determined that it was necessary for protection of everybody concerned that we get this thing finalized, as I say, because I'd started having some indications that I'd probably be successful in getting these things resolved without going to the Tax Court in this last case, these last two cases.

Q. They were about at the stage where you felt they could be —

A. Yeah. Well, my — my conversations with these varied people in the Internal Revenue Service, I was pretty confident we could get them settled. The precise amounts were still disputed,

but — also the items that they disallowed. Now, I thought I could resolve it provided we had something to back it up that couldn't subsequently be upset in the — the later cases as well as the ones that had been settled in the Tax Court couldn't be upset upon the basis of misrepresentations.

Q. Did you feel that there was any jeopardy of the settlements that had already been made being upset?

A. Well, Mr. Black, I have to go back in point of time now and I hope I can make myself clear on this. You've got to re-orient yourself. The circumstances that existed at the time were this was a mysterious fraud case and you just never knew. As I said in the beginning, I had an idea there was an informant. I was never able to substantiate it. I wanted things tied up for the benefit of Mr. Wagner, people at the factory and myself."

Bridwell arrived in Switzerland and immediately turned over the accountings and settlements to Wagner (Exs. 33, 35). At a later date, after Wagner had been able to go through the accountings and study them, Wagner and Bridwell had what was described by both as a heated discussion at Bridwell's hotel room. Wagner testifying from his notes concerning the dates, having reconstructed same from his diary, stated that the conversation which lasted some seven hours took place on September 6, 1961 (R. 66). At this heated discussion, Wagner made various accusations and the entire series of events was discussed, and Bridwell brought Wagner

completely up-to-date on the building transaction. Eventually, the two of them made their peace and Bridwell prepared in his own handwriting corporate minutes to be submitted to the corporation and a general power of attorney. Wagner then typed up the minutes and power of attorney for presentation to the Board of Directors. Wagner not only typed these documents but also hired a local lawyer, Dr. Alfred Weierz, to help explain to the members of the Board why it was advisable to sign them (R. 83, 84) (Exs. 18, 18A, 19, 19A, 19B).

Exhibit 19A is the original signed minutes of the Stockholders' Meeting at Zurich, Switzerland on September 8, 1961, and Exhibit 19B is a copy of the power of attorney which was signed and executed at the same meeting.

A study of the minutes of this meeting reveals a full and complete disclosure of all that Bridwell had done in these cases concerning payment of fees and costs to himself and Nielson and the building transaction with Schubach, and contains a complete ratification by Precisa A.G., Ernst Jost and Eugene Wagner. In addition, Precisa A.G., Jost and Wagner signed the general power of attorney giving Bridwell power to wind up the tax cases. The general power of attorney further contained language ratifying and confirming everything that Bridwell had done to date and shall do by virtue of these presents.

The minutes specifically ratified and consented to all travel expenses, accounting fees and legal fees, as reflected by the accountings prepared by Frank Nielson and approved of the \$2,000 which Wagner had sent to Bridwell prior to his trip to Switzerland. The minutes further stated:

"It is understood there are further substantial fees, validly and avowedly due as a corporate obligation for legal and accounting services rendered and to be rendered, to George E. Bridwell and Frank Nielson, and George E. Bridwell shall be and he hereby is authorized to make and authorize such corporate obligation and payment therefor as he may deem fit, in accord herewith and in accord with the General Power of Attorney to be given him as is hereinafter set forth in this Resolution."

In addition, the minutes outlined the details as to the loss of the building and stated that the contract with Mr. and Mrs. Hines went delinquent and that the corporation had no funds to pay thereon, and further, that requests for loans of the corporation to save the contract were unfulfilled and none of us were willing to risk further investment and money in the Company at that time because of the large outstanding tax assessment and uncertainty as to outcome. Furthermore, it was stated in regard to the building that at the time set to exercise the option the Company had no money and none of us would have loaned money to exercise it. And that under possessed authority counsel exercised the option for the Company, then for the Company

he conveyed the right to Robert M. Schubach which we ratify; "It didn't harm us as we had no funds available." The minutes further stated that Schubach is a close friend of Bridwell and that Bridwell is his attorney and that they commended Schubach for his courage in advancing such sums at great risk. The minutes further acknowledged that the building is and would be lost to the Company and that the Company acknowledges it and affirms it. In addition, the minutes requested counsel to ask Schubach to give the Company, Jost or Wagner first right of refusal to purchase or lease the building at the same terms as any bona fide offer he may receive and desires to take.

After returning from the trip to Switzerland, Bridwell completed the settlement of the tax cases and notified Wagner that he could return to this country without fear of prosecution. (Ex. 17 Letter Bridwell to Wagner, dated October 27, 1961)

Prior to the trip in September 1961, on May 19, 1961, Bridwell wrote a letter to Wagner informing him in detail as to what had happened to the building and of the fact that Schubach at that time would be willing to get his money back together with a profit for the risk he had undertaken. Bridwell in the same letter asked Wagner to find out what Jost and Precisa A.G. would desire to do with the building. (Ex. 5)

After the final settlement of the cases on October 9, 1961, Bridwell received a refund from the Govern-

ment in the amount of \$15,520.70 which he disbursed as follows:

Property Taxes for Eugene Wagner property	\$1,392.34
Nielson, Psarras and Nilson, C.P.A.s.....	\$6,700.00
George E. Bridwell, balance of attorney fee	\$7,428.36

Bridwell testified that he informed Wagner orally of the disbursement of this refund shortly after Wagner came back (R. 376).

After returning, Wagner, through a process of negotiation with Schubach, purchased the building from Schubach for the total sum of \$35,000.00. Wagner paid Schubach cash except for a promissory note of \$2,657.19, dated December 11, 1961 (Ex. 23). Schubach made a profit of better than \$10,000.00 on this transaction. Bridwell received nothing from this transaction (R. 379).

Schubach supported Bridwell's testimony that he had at a prior time offered the property back to Wagner for what he had invested plus some interest (R. 145). Schubach further testified that Bridwell made nothing from the property transaction (R. 125).

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