1969

In Re: George E. Bridwell, Disciplinary Proceeding : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal by a Utah attorney from an order by the Utah State Bar Commission recommending disbarment.

DISPOSITION BY COMMISSION

After a hearing before a three man Disciplinary Committee which made Findings of Fact and a Conclusion of Law to the effect that the attorney had violated the rules of the Utah State Bar governing professional conduct, the Utah State Bar Commission reviewed same and entered an Order recommending disbarment.

RELIEF SOUGHT BY APPELLEE

The appellee seeks affirmation of the Bar Commission's recommendation and an Order disbaring the appellant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Following is a panoramic view of the facts to give the Court a general picture of the problem. As the specific Findings of Fact of the Disciplinary Committee are discussed, the essential facts will be treated in greater detail.

In 1957, the complainant, Eugene Wagner, acting for himself and Precisa Calculating Machine Company, a distributor of adding machines and orthopedic knees, engaged Bridwell to represent them in connection with charges brought by the Internal Revenue Service (R. 32). The company operated an office in Salt Lake City (R. 31). It was a small corporation whose principal stockholders were an orthopedic appliance factory in Basel, Switzerland, its president and Wagner (R. 34). Wagner, a Swiss national converted to the Mormon faith, has been doing business in Salt Lake City in connection with Swiss and American companies since 1948 (R. 28-32).

Shortly after Wagner and Precisa received deficiency notices from the Internal Revenue Service, Wagner returned to Switzerland to check the books of his company there (R. 32-3). On advice of Bridwell, who was apprehensive of fraud implications in the Internal Revenue Service charges, Wagner remained in Switzerland for the next four years (Exs. 1, 2, 5, 10, 16 and M). Bridwell took over the management of the company in Salt Lake and soon became the sole custodian of its bank account.

The Internal Revenue Service proceeded with its project. Bridwell negotiated and the cases were all ultimately settled by May 29, 1961, except Wagner's personal case involving his 1957 taxes, which was settled October 9, 1961 (R. 436).

Initially Bridwell agreed to handle the cases through the

administrative process for the sum of \$14,000 (Ex. 1). Between the fall of 1957, however, and September of 1958, he paid himself out of the Precisa bank account which he controlled, the sum of \$19,425.00, taking the extra \$5,425.00 without knowledge or permission of Wagner or Precisa (Ex. F; R. 429, 70).

In October, 1958, Bridwell withdrew from Precisa funds another \$4,000.00 without the knowledge or permission of his clients, ostensibly to finance a trip for himself and his accountant, Frank Nielson, to Basel, Switzerland, to consult with Wagner and examine books and records there (R. 352; Ex. C).

Bridwell and Nielson worked in Basel for approximately three weeks. By this time the company was not operating and had no income. No financial statement was submitted to Wagner (Ex. 6). He was not told how much remained in the dwindling bank account. Bridwell asked for additional fees over the \$14,000.00 and was authorized to withdraw an additional \$3,000.00 to give him a total of \$17,000.00 (R.70). He did not reveal that he had already withdrawn \$23,425.00.

By May, 1959 or earlier, the bank account was entirely depleted (Ex. 5).

Precisa was buying a building in Salt Lake on contract. When the cash was gone, the contract payments lapsed and the mortgagee foreclosed (R. 364; Ex. 19B, 5). Bridwell persuaded the mortgagee to give Precisa an option to repurchase at the same contract price. Then he arranged the sale of the option to his close friend and client, Robert Schubach, who purchased the property in 1959 (Exs. 16, 17, 5, 19B).

In May, 1961, he informed Wagner for the first time of the disposition of the property which had been accomplished two

years before (Ex. 5). Wagner was furious (Ex. 6). He thought the payments were still being made. In October, 1961, after settlement of all the tax cases had been achieved, Bridwell urged Wagner to borrow money in Switzerland so that he could buy the property back from Bridwell at a cost of \$45,000.00 (Ex. 16). Schubach had bought it for \$22,277.10. On October 29, 1961, when Bridwell informed Wagner it was safe to return to Salt Lake because the tax cases had been settled (Ex. 17), Wagner did so and had to pay Schubach \$35,000.00 to repurchase the building instead of \$22,277.10, the price at which he could have purchased it under the option agreement (Ex. 47). Schubach had put some money into the property, but still made a profit of \$10,537.82 (R. 397).

Meantime the assets of Precisa had been sold by the Internal Revenue Service to satisfy tax deficiencies, and when the cases were settled, the government sent Precisa a refund check of \$15,520.70 to Bridwell on October 9, 1961. Without the knowledge or assent of Precisa or Wagner, Bridwell disbursed the refund as follows: \$1,392.34 to pay taxes of certain Precisa Redwood Road property, \$6,700.00 to his accountant, Frank Nielson, and \$7,428.36 to himself as additional attorney's fees (Ex. 36). He did not inform Wagner or Precisa of the receipt of the refund until Wagner's return to Salt Lake in November, 1961 (R. 204, 376). Then he did not divulge its disbursement, but claimed that it was in an attorney's trust account in his office (R. 204). Wagner asked that it be placed in a Precisa Corporation checking account requiring his and Bridwell's signatures (R. 204). When this was not done, Wagner hounded Bridwell for an accounting of the refund (Ex. 41), but it was not until October 29, 1962, after Wagner had hired another attorney to represent him against Bridwell and threatened to report Bridwell to the Bar Association (Ex. 42) that Nielson,

Bridwell's accountant, sent Wagner a letter listing the threefold distribution of the \$15,520.70 (Ex. 36).

Bridwell states that in midsummer of 1961, he became "assured" that all of the tax claims would be settled (R. 358). As a matter of fact, all of the cases against the corporation and Wagner except Wagner's 1957 taxes were settled by May 29, 1961 (R. 435) and Wagner's 1957 case was settled early in October, 1961 (R. 436). Bridwell cabled Wagner three times demanding \$2,000 to finance another trip to Basel. He finally threatened Wagner that if he did not send the money, Wagner might be exiled for life from the United States (Ex. 14). Wagner finally sent the money (Ex. 15) and Bridwell went to Europe alone in September, 1961. Wagner was furious that the corporation's cash and building were gone and he accused Bridwell of stealing money (R. 362). Bridwell convinced him that in order to settle the tax cases, (which were already settled,) Wagner and all of the officers of Precisa would have to execute corporate stockholder's meeting minutes which ratified the sale of the building to Schubach and absolved Bridwell of any wrongdoing in connection with his representation of Wagner and Precisa (Ex. 19B, 21). Under pressure Wagner and his colleagues signed minutes prepared by Bridwell (Ex. 21).

In the course of Bridwell's handling of things "at home," he committed other irregularities: (1) He bought a valuable Wagner-owned chandelier which the government was going to sell at auction and gave it to Robert Schubach's father (R. 388-9); (2) he got a bar built in his basement at the expense of Precisa (R. 408-9); and (3) he took funds collected by Dun & Bradstreet for Precisa and deposited them in his own personal bank account instead of the corporation account (R. 400, 380-1; Exs. 27, 28, 28A, 29, 30, 31).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DELAY HAS NOT PREJUDICED THE APPELLANT
AND DOES NOT REQUIRE DISMISSAL.

Mr. Bridwell's claims regarding deprivation of speedy trial and laches are adequately negated by this court's opinion and decision in the case of *In re Steffensen*, 78 P.2d 531, 85 Utah 380 (1938). In that case an attorney collected \$60.00 for a client and retained it, claiming as justification (1) that the client owed him additional fees, (2) that he could not locate the client, and (3) the client's delay in instituting the action through the bar constituted laches and unreasonable delay.

The attorney's own admissions eliminated the defense that he had not been able to contact his client. The attorney collected the money on November 11, 1930. The complaint by the Bar Association was filed in May, 1935. With regard to the issue of laches and delay, the court said:

"In so far as the defense of laches pleaded in defendant's answer is concerned, we do not find it sustained by the facts in the record. As soon as the collection by the attorney was known to the client, the latter was reasonably active thereafter in bringing forward his insistence upon a settlement from the attorney. When his own efforts failed, he enlisted the friendly efforts of other attorneys and the county attorney's office. When a man has employed and paid one attorney to make a collection, he does not need employ and pay another attorney to collect from the first in order to demonstrate an earnestness and sincerity in desiring to get possession of his own money. The matter was kept before Mr. Steffensen's attention, if not constantly, at least with reasonable continuity from the time it

was known he had collected on the Pingree claim. Such delay as occurred, in pressing the claim, was due to or contributed to by the attorney's own necessitous circumstances and was largely in his interest. If he lost files, or his memory has dimmed because of the delay, it would seem to be a misfortune against which he might have guarded by a reasonable appreciation of the outcome of his failure to account for and pay what was due to his client."

In the case at bar the analogous fact exists that as soon as the client, Mr. Wagner, returned to the United States from Europe and discovered what he believed to be the unprofessional conduct of his lawyer, he "was reasonably active thereafter in bringing forward his insistence upon a settlement from the attorney." In fact, he was more than "reasonably active." According to Mr. Bridwell's own brief: "After the building transaction had been completed (December 11, 1961), Wagner came to Bridwell's office and made accusations of embezzlement. Bridwell told him to get out." (App. Br. p. 21). By letter of September 24, 1962 (Ex. 24) Wagner warned Bridwell that if he did not account for cash of the corporation in his possession, he would complain to the Bar Association.

Consequently, under the rationale of the *Steffensen* case, Bridwell certainly had vigorous notice of the wrongdoing charged. He had opportunity at that time to rectify the misconduct of which he was later found guilty by the Disciplinary Committee and the Bar Commission. He had unmistakable warning at that time that he could anticipate criminal, civil or disciplinary action, and he had ample opportunity to assemble and preserve any evidence which might assist him in his defense.

On May 6, 1963, he was informed of the letter of complaint which had been filed against him. This is only a year and a half after Wagner accused him of embezzlement. That was not

too late for him to have assembled and preserved whatever evidence he could in preparation for his defense.

Bridwell has not been prejudiced by any delay of prosecution.

There is an abundance of authority declaring that a disbarment proceeding is not affected by a statute of limitations unless a specific statute has been enacted to cover such proceeding.

b. Limitations and Laches. General statutes of limitations are not applicable to disciplinary proceedings, although staleness of a charge may prevent its being considered. Special statutes, if valid, will bar the prosecution of such a proceeding.

“The general statute of limitations is no defense to a proceeding for the disbarment or suspension of an attorney, nor will the courts establish a limitation as to the time in which such proceedings may be instituted by analogy to the statute of limitations unless, from the nature or circumstances of the particular case, it appears that it would be unjust or unfair to require the attorney to answer as to such occurrences.

“Staleness in a charge against an attorney may prevent its being considered, because an unreasonable delay in the presentation of a charge of misconduct may make it impossible for an attorney to procure the witnesses or the testimony which would have been available at an earlier time to meet such charge. However, the court will not refuse to hear charges of unprofessional conduct against an attorney because of expiration of long period of time unless it would be unjust to compel him to answer such charges.”
7 C.J.S., Attorney and Client, §25b, p. 766.

62. Limitations and Laches. Disciplinary proceedings are not barred by the general statute of limitations.

Nor is a disciplinary proceeding barred because it is grounded on acts that also constitute a crime that cannot be prosecuted in a criminal action because of limitations. However, proceedings instituted a long time after the commission of the act complained of are regarded with disfavor." 7 Am. Jur. 2d, §62, p. 86.

"It seems, however, that, except in the few states which have enacted specific statutes on the subject, there is no limitation on the time for instituting disbarment proceedings, except the inherent power of the court to refuse to hear an application to disbar which has been unreasonably delayed, a subject not within the scope of the present discussion.

"It has been said generally in several cases that the ordinary statutes of limitations have no application to a disbarment proceeding. *Re Lowenthal* (1889) 78 Cal. 427, 21 Pac. 7; *People ex rel. Stead v. Phipps* (1913) 261 Ill. 576, 104 N.E. 144; *Re Elliott* (1906) 73 Kan. 151, 84 Pac. 750; *Re Leonard* (1908) 127 App. Div. 493, 111 N.Y. Supp. 905, affirmed in (1908) 193 N.Y. 655, 87 N.E. 1121; *State ex. rel. Grievance Committee v. Woerndle* (1923) 109 Or. 461, 209 Pac. 604, 220 Pac. 744; *Wilhelm's Case* (1921) 269 Pa. 416, 112 Atl. 560.

"The statutory bar against actions at law has no application to a proceeding for disbarment. *Re Simpkins* (1915) 169 App. Div. 632, 155 N.Y. Supp. 521.

"The same principles which authorize the court to entertain charges against an attorney of violating his professional duties, irrespective of any civil or criminal proceedings against him, render the bar of the Statute of Limitations against a civil or criminal proceeding an immaterial element.' *Ex parte Tyler* (1895) 107 Cal. 78, 40 Pac. 33.

"The Statute of Limitations has no application to delinquencies such as have been shown to exist. The court

in such cases, will consider any unexplained, unreasonable delay in presenting the charges, and also whether, by reason of such delay, the accused has been deprived of a fair opportunity of securing proof to meet the accusation; but the proceeding for the disbarment of an attorney is not barred by the express terms of the Statute of Limitations, nor will the courts establish a limitation as to the time in which such proceedings may be instituted, by analogy to the Statute of Limitations, unless, from the nature of the circumstances of the particular case, it appears that it would be unjust or unfair to require the attorney to answer as to such occurrences.' People ex. rel. *Healy v. Hooper* (1905) 218 Ill. 313, 75 N.E. 896.

“It is contended that the proceeding was barred by some statute of limitations, but the accused points out no particular limitations applicable to cases of this character. Staleness in a charge against an attorney might prevent its being considered, because an unreasonable delay in the presentation of a charge of misconduct might make it impossible for an attorney to procure witnesses or the testimony which would have been available at an earlier time to meet such charge; but the Statute of Limitations itself is no defense to such a proceeding.' Re Smith (1906) 73 Kan. 743, 85 Pac. 584.” Annotation, *Statutory Limitation of time for disbarment proceeding*, 45 A.L.R. 1111.

It is clear, therefore, in this case that the defense of the statute of limitations is not available to Mr. Bridwell.

POINT II.

THE FINDINGS OF FACT OF THE DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE CORRECT.

This court in the case of *In re Macfarlane*, 350 P.2d 631, 10

Utah 2d 217(1960), defined its position with regard to the review of Bar Commission findings:

“(3, 4) It is true that this court would not follow the finding and recommendation of the Commission if it appeared to be arbitrary, nor unless it was supported by substantial evidence. But it is quite impractical to expect that there be a review of the mental process by which the conclusion was arrived at. We are not concerned with the niceties of the term ‘presumption’ but with a survey of the foundational facts and whether reasonable minds might regard the overall picture as meeting the required standard of proof that respondent engaged in unprofessional conduct.

• • •

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